
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tuesday, 9 June 2020 
12.00 pm 
 
 
 
 
 

Online Meeting via Zoom 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 

 

Children & Young People Board 
9 June 2020 

 

There will be a remote meeting of the Children & Young People Board at 12.00 pm on Tuesday, 9 
June 2020. 
 
Attendance: 
Member Services will read out a register at the start of the meeting. 
 
Apologies: 
Please notify your political group office (see contact telephone numbers below) if you are unable to 
attend this meeting. 
 
Conservative:  020 7664 3223  email: lgaconservatives@local.gov.uk 
Labour:   020 7664 3263  email: Martha.Lauchlan@local.gov.uk 
Liberal Democrat:  020 7664 3235  email: libdem@local.gov.uk 
Independent:  020 7664 3224  email: independent.grouplga@local.gov.uk 
 
LGA Contact: 
Thomas French, Member Services Officer. 
 
Carers’ Allowance 
As part of the LGA Members’ Allowances Scheme a Carer’s Allowance of £9.00 per hour or £10.55 
if receiving London living wage is available to cover the cost of dependants (i.e. children, elderly 
people or people with disabilities) incurred as a result of attending this meeting.



 

 

 

Children & Young People Board – Membership 2019/2020 
 
Councillor Authority 

  
Conservative ( 7)  

Cllr Teresa Heritage (Vice 
Chairman) 

Hertfordshire County Council 

Cllr Patricia Bradwell OBE Lincolnshire County Council 
Cllr Susie Charles Lancashire County Council 

Cllr Matthew Golby Northamptonshire County Council 
Cllr Roger Gough Kent County Council 

Cllr Dick Madden Essex County Council 
Cllr Laura Mayes Wiltshire Council 

  
Substitutes  

Cllr James Hockney London Borough of Enfield 
Cllr Warren Whyte Buckinghamshire County Council 

Cllr Mark Sutton Staffordshire County Council 
  
Labour ( 7)  

Cllr Judith Blake CBE (Chair) Leeds City Council 
Cllr Rachel Eden Reading Borough Council 

Cllr Sara Rowbotham Rochdale Metropolitan Borough Council 
Cllr James Beckles Newham London Borough Council 

Cllr Imran Khan Bradford Metropolitan District Council 
Cllr Alisa Flemming London Borough of Croydon 

Cllr Lesley Williams MBE Gloucestershire County Council 
  

Substitutes  
Cllr Helen Godwin Bristol City Council 

Cllr Abdul Jabbar MBE Oldham Metropolitan Borough Council 
  

Liberal Democrat ( 2)  

Cllr Lucy Nethsingha (Deputy 
Chair) 

Cambridgeshire County Council 

Cllr Mark Cory Colchester Borough Council 
  
Substitutes  

Cllr Nick Cott Newcastle upon Tyne City Council 

Cllr Edward Maxfield Norfolk County Council 

  
Independent ( 2)  
Cllr Julie Fallon (Deputy Chair) Conwy County Borough Council 

Cllr Judy Jennings Epping Forest District Council 
  

Substitutes  

Cllr Kevin Etheridge Caerphilly County Borough Council 

Cllr Julian Dean Shropshire Council 



 

 

 
 

Agenda 
 

Children & Young People Board 
 
Tuesday 9 June 2020 
 
12.00 pm 
 
Online Meeting, 18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZvia Zoom. 
 

 
 

 Item Page  
 

1.   Chair's Welcome, Apologies Declarations of Interest 
 

  

2.   Coronavirus response 
 

1 - 2  

a) LGA submission to the Education Committee 
inquiry into the impact of COVID-19 on education 
and children's services 

 

3 - 18  

3.   Children and Young People Board priorities 
 

19 - 24  

4.   Employment and skills recovery 
 

25 - 34  

5.   Any other business 
 

  

6.   Notes from the Wednesday 22 January 2020 Board 
Meeting 
 

35 - 42  

 
 
 Date of Next Meeting: Tuesday, 8 September 2020, TBC. 
 



 

Children and Young People Board 

09 June 2020 

    

 

Coronavirus response 

 

Purpose of report 

For discussion. 

 

Summary 

Attached to this report is the LGA submission to the Education Committee inquiry into the 

impact of COVID-19 on education and children’s services, to summarise the LGA’s response 

to date. It is intended to support a wider discussion by the Board about the way councils 

have responded to current circumstances, the lessons learnt, and the barriers encountered. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contact officer:  Ian Keating 

Position:   Principal Policy Adviser, CYP 

Phone no:   0207 664 3032  

Email:    ian.keating@local.gov.uk 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Recommendation 

That the Board discuss and share best practice about the council response to COVID-19, 

the lessons learnt, and the barriers encountered. 

Action 

Officers to respond as directed by the Board. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



 

Children and Young People Board 

09 June 2020 

    

 

Coronavirus response 

Background 

1. Attached to this report is the LGA submission to the Education Committee inquiry into 

the impact of COVID-19 on education and children’s services, to summarise the LGA’s 

response to date. It is intended to support a wider discussion by the Board about the way 

councils have responded to current circumstances, the lessons learnt, and the barriers 

encountered. 

 

2. As there are a wide range of issues to discuss a possible structure would be discuss the 

issues under the following headings: 

 

2.1. Early years 

 

2.2. Schools 

 

2.3. Children’s Social Care 

 

2.4. Children’s Health 

 

2.5. CYP Mental Health 

Implications for Wales 

3. The Select Committee submission relates to England as education and children’s 

services are a devolved matter in Wales 

Financial Implications 

4. Any actions arising will be met within existing resources 

Next steps 

5. Officers to take forward any issues raised as a result of the discussion 

 

 

Page 2

Agenda Item 2



 

1 

 

S
u

b
m

is
s

io
n

 
F

o
r 

fu
rt

h
e

r 
in

fo
rm

a
ti

o
n

, 
p

le
a

s
e

 c
o

n
ta

c
t:

 

Ir
e

d
ia

 O
b

o
h

, 
P

u
b

li
c
 A

ff
a

ir
s
 a

n
d

 C
a

m
p

a
ig

n
s
 A

d
v

is
e
r 

E
m

a
il:

 i
re

d
ia

.o
b

o
h

@
lo

c
a

l.
g
o

v
.u

k
 T

e
l:
 0

2
0
7

 6
6
4

 3
1

2
7

 

L
o
c
a
l 
G

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
A

s
s
o
c
ia

ti
o

n
 C

o
m

p
a

n
y
 N

u
m

b
e

r 
1
1

1
7
7

1
4

5
 

 

 

LGA submission to the Education Committee inquiry into 
the impact of COVID-19 on education and children’s 
services 

31 May 2020 

 

1. About the Local Government Association (LGA) 

 
1.1. The Local Government Association (LGA) is the national voice of local 

government. We are a politically-led, cross party membership organisation, 
representing councils from England and Wales.   
 

1.2. Our role is to support, promote and improve local government, and raise 
national awareness of the work of councils. Our ultimate ambition is to 
support councils to deliver local solutions to national problems. 

 
2. Summary 

 
2.1. Councils have led their local communities at this time of crisis, they have 

kept public services running and supported local communities through 
difficult times. Across the country, councils have worked hard to keep 
schools and early years settings open for vulnerable children and the 
children of key workers, they have innovated to safeguard vulnerable 
children on child protection plans and supported children with special 
educational needs and disabilities (SEND). 
 

2.2. Children’s services departments moved swiftly to implement new ways of 
working to ensure they were able to support vulnerable children and young 
people. Social workers and colleagues across children’s services should 
be commended for their determination to keep children safe and well 
throughout the crisis. 

 
2.3. The ability of those working in children’s social care to support vulnerable 

children has been hampered by poor access to personal protective 
equipment (PPE). Not only has this put staff at risk, but we are concerned 
that it has made staff feel undervalued in a sector that already rarely gets 
recognition for its work in keeping children safe. 
 

2.4. Early years providers have stepped in to provide care for vulnerable 
children and the children of critical workers. However, there are concerns 
around the financial viability of many early years settings as a result of the 
pandemic. There was also a lack of clarity from the Department initially 
about the financial assistance available to early years settings. We have 
called on the Government to provide additional funding for early years 
provision to make sure that no provider loses out financially for staying 
open, and to make sure we have the childcare places we need going 
forward so people can get back to work when the time comes. 
 

2.5. Councils are working hard to fulfil their statutory duties and mitigate the risk 
of those young people not in employment, education or training (NEETs). 
However, with a reduced number of training and employment opportunities 
expected, the Government needs to engage councils and combined 
authorities and partners to plan and guarantee education, employment and 
training places for all young people who were due to leave school or 
college. There are also additional challenges affecting the delivery of 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2a

mailto:iredia.oboh@local.gov.uk
mailto:iredia.oboh@local.gov.uk


 

2 

 

apprenticeships for instance, employers including councils’ as employers, 
continue to pay the Apprenticeship Levy but are unable to spend or transfer 
funds during the crisis due to widespread pauses in training and 
recruitment. This may potentially compromise the delivery and limit the 
number of apprenticeship opportunities.  
 

2.6. Councils and schools have highlighted significant concerns regarding the 
operation of the DfE’s national free school meal voucher scheme, which is 
being provided by Edenred. Councils have also raised concerns about the 
range of supermarket chains that have signed up to participate in the 
national voucher scheme. 
 

2.7. We welcome the Government’s decision to use provisions set out in the 
Coronavirus Act 2020 to relax the duty on councils and their partners to 
secure special educational provision and health care provision in 
accordance with an Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP). Under these 
new arrangements, councils and their partners must use their ‘reasonable 
endeavours’ to secure the provision set out in an EHCP, meaning that a 
child or young person’s provision as delivered may differ temporarily from 
what is set out in their EHCP. 
 

2.8. The Department for Education (DfE) should work with schools, councils 
and other partners to develop contingency planning arrangements for the 
possible future closure of schools and other settings. While we appreciate 
that the Covid-19 situation developed quickly, very little notice was given 
to schools about closure; as a result, schools and councils were waiting for 
guidance and in many instances had to develop their own arrangements 
locally. 

 
2.9. It is essential that going forward, all parts of the sector are properly funded, 

not only to allow them to build resilience in case of another national 
emergency, but to ensure they can fully support children and families 
through the recovery from this pandemic and beyond. The £3.2 billion worth 
of grant funding has been welcome however, Government must continue 
to demonstrate a rock-solid commitment that it will meet the extra costs 
local authorities are facing due to the additional demands created by 
COVID-19. Councils could need as much as £6 billion more to cover the 
costs of coping with the coronavirus pandemic during this financial year. 
This figure will need to be kept under review. 

 
2.10. Parents are anxious about sending their children back into education 

settings, as evidenced by the low numbers of vulnerable children and 
children of key workers that have been attending since the start of the lock-
down. Reassuring parents that it will be safe for children to return to school 
will be key to any recovery and publication of advice, such as that from 
SAGE or crucial testing data, in a clear and accessible format will be vital 
in that regard. 

 
3. The implementation of the critical workers policy, including how 

consistently the definition of ‘critical’ work is being applied across the 
country and how schools are supported to remain open for children of 
critical workers. 

 
3.1. In his speech on the 19th April, the Secretary of State for Education noted 

that up to 130,000 children had been in school each day since the lockdown 
came into forcei. Feedback from schools and councils has been that these 
low numbers can be attributed to the Government’s ‘Stay at home, save 
lives’ advice taking precedence over the Department for Education’s advice 

Page 4

Agenda Item 2a



 

3 

 

that vulnerable children and the children of critical workers should remain 
in school. 
 

3.2.  In recent days we have started to see a rise in the number of children of 
critical workers attending school, with Department for Education (DfE) data 
showing that on the 30th April, 137,000ii were in attendance, compared to 
62,000 on the 17th Apriliii. In early years settings, 69,000 children of critical 
workers were present on the 30th Apriliv, compared with 59,000 on the 16th 
Aprilv. Councils and schools have worked together to encourage the 
families of key workers and vulnerable pupils that it is safe for them to return 
to school and early years settings, but numbers remain low.  

 
3.3. We have seen a similar situation with increasing numbers of vulnerable 

children attending schools, 58,000 on the 30th April compared to 50,000 on 
the 23rd April and a smaller increase in early years settings, from 9,000 on 
the 23rd to 10,000 on the 30th Aprilvi. 

 
4. The capacity of children’s services to support vulnerable children and 

young people 

 

Education 

 
4.1. Recently published researchvii undertaken by independent consultancy the 

Isos Partnership highlights the role of councils in managing the education 
system’s response to this crisis. Councils have been working to convene 
schools and partners, communicate key messages and co-ordinate local 
responses to the crisis.  
 

4.2. It found that local education systems have needed to develop a new 
“operating model” for responding to the crisis. This has involved –  

 
4.2.1. setting up new structures for liaising with schools and settings – for 

example, each school and setting having a nominated liaison or point-
of-contact, either drawing on existing structures or matching officers to 
schools and settings within a local “patch”; 
 

4.2.2. maintaining regular communications with schools and settings – 
through daily emails, ensuring all messages to schools and settings go 
through a single point-of-contact (for example a senior education 
leader within the local authority) and virtual school leader meetings, so 
as to ensure a swift and regular flow of information (local leaders 
emphasised the scale of the task of interpreting and implementing the 
significant volume of guidance from central government), consistent 
communications and interpretation of national guidance, and rapid 
sharing of good practice; and 

 
4.2.3. setting up processes for tracking vulnerable children – drawing 

together lists of children who are known to children’s services or 
potentially could be vulnerable during this period, undertaking risk 
assessments, and putting in place appropriate checks or arrangement 
to get children into school who need to be. 

 
4.3. The process of setting up this new “operating model” has highlighted two 

important issues. 
 

4.3.1. First, it has underscored the importance of the relationships between 
education and children’s services. Where there has been strong 
collaborative practices and information sharing previously, local areas 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2a



 

4 

 

have been able to move to this new mode of operating swiftly and have 
developed robust processes for tracking potentially vulnerable children 
easily. In other local areas, however, the period following the partial 
closure of schools revealed mismatches in information about 
potentially vulnerable children held by different services and schools, 
and a lack of understanding and established relationships between 
schools and settings, education and children’s services. 
 

4.3.2. Second, it exposed challenges in balancing the imperatives of 
promoting public health and protecting potentially vulnerable children. 
Local leaders described to us some of the challenges of balancing the 
message about the need for people to stay at home with that about 
which families can or should send their children to school (and whether 
the latter was an entitlement for families or an option to be considered 
by professionals). This issue has to come to the fore recently, with DfE 
data showing that around 5 per cent of those children defined as 
vulnerable were attending schools, and 6 per cent of those eligible 
were attending early years settings – an issue that has been 
highlighted in a recent report by the Office of the Children’s 
Commissioner. Local education system leaders described how they 
were taking a risk-based approach, developing overall lists of all pupils, 
collating information about those who would be potentially vulnerable, 
and identifying how professionals could be assured that those children 
were safe, either through checks or in some instances getting the 
children into school. 

 
4.4. Looking ahead, the research found that councils and school leaders are 

looking to answer questions on how best to support the education of pupils 
and the ‘health’ of schools and settings. These questions include how to 
manage the potential impact of deprivation and avoid learning gaps 
widening, how to ensure the wellbeing of all children, including the very 
young and; how to support more vulnerable schools and settings. 

 
0-19 Public health services 

 
4.5. The Healthy Child Programme workforce in local authorities has done as 

much as possible to support children and families through online and virtual 
contact and resources, as well as high priority home visits. However, 
concerns have been raised that a high proportion of specialist public health 
nurses and nursery nurses have been redeployed in some areas to acute 
and adult community services. This may compromise the delivery of the 
Healthy Child Programme, reducing capacity for health visitors and school 
nurses to identify and support vulnerable children and parents with 
problems such as perinatal mental health, breastfeeding support or 
identifying wider safeguarding concerns. 
 

4.6. We expect to see a surge in activity and demand for Healthy Child 
Programme support needs when the lockdown is eased.  This will be 
particularly notable when children return to schools and nurseries and look 
to support from public health services around mental health and emotional 
wellbeing during transition and resocialisation.  

 
4.7. Routine childhood immunisation programmes will also need a rigorous and 

extensive catch up schedule. Despite local areas working hard to continue 
to deliver immunisation programmes where possible, factors such as early 
years and school closures, redeployment of the nursing workforce and the 
reluctance of parents or carers to bring children into health care settings, 
has resulted in a reduction in uptake. The National Child Measurement 

Page 6

Agenda Item 2a



 

5 

 

Programme has been paused and will need an extensive catch-up 
programme to ensure we continue to support children to maintain a healthy 
weight.  

 
4.8. To ensure local public health services can meet the expected increase in 

demand, urgent workforce remodelling, and resource analysis should be 
undertaken with partners across the sector to ensure the Healthy Child 
Programme has the capacity to respond to the immediate unmet need as 
we enter recovery, in addition to the longer-term work to address health 
inequalities exacerbated during the coronavirus crisis.  

 
Children’s social care 

 
4.9. Children’s services departments moved swiftly to implement new ways of 

working to ensure they were able to support vulnerable children and young 
people. Social workers and colleagues across children’s services should 
be commended for their determination to keep children safe and well 
throughout the crisis. 
 

4.10. There has been an outstanding response from those looking after 
looked-after children. Foster carers have worked hard to reassure foster 
children and continued to provide loving homes, while we have heard 
excellent examples from the children’s residential sector such as staff 
moving into children’s homes full time to provide support where cases of 
coronavirus were suspected. 
 

4.11. Support from Ofsted was also welcome in helping to ensure that 
children’s social care had the capacity to support children at this time, 
including suspending routine inspections and providing additional social 
work capacity.  

 
4.12. The ability of those working in children’s social care to support 

vulnerable children has, however, been hampered by poor access to PPE. 
Not only has this put staff at risk, but we are concerned that it has made 
staff feel undervalued in a sector that already rarely gets recognition for its 
work in keeping children safe. 

 
4.13. Guidance from the DfE has repeatedly stated that children’s social 

workers only require PPE where there are confirmed or suspected cases 
of coronavirus in a household. However, this fails to recognise the often-
tense relationships between social workers and the families they are 
working with. For example, one council reported a case in which a social 
worker went into a home to remove a young child at risk without any PPE.  
The parents were spitting at them claiming they had COVID-19. The 
accompanying police were in full PPE, as were the A&E staff that received 
the child. While the social worker continued with their job and ensured the 
child was safe, we are concerned that experiences such as this suggest an 
undervaluing of the workforce and risks their resilience.  

 
4.14. Both central and local government have been keen from the 

beginning of the crisis to ensure that all children are kept safe, including 
those who already have social workers and those who have become more 
vulnerable as a result of the pandemic.  

 
4.15. In order to achieve a level of oversight of work to protect children, 

the DfE implemented a data collection from Directors of Children’s Services 
and established Regional Education and Children’s Teams (REACT) which 
are chaired by the Regional Schools Commissioner.  

Page 7

Agenda Item 2a



 

6 

 

 
4.16. The DfE worked extensively with the Association of Directors of 

Children’s Services (ADCS) on a proposed data collection, however the 
first collection sent out did not reflect this collaboration. This resulted in 
significant concern from Directors due to the volume of data requested, 
duplication with other data collections and short timescales for response. 
This collection was subsequently withdrawn and replaced with a shorter 
collection following consultation with ADCS and the LGA. 

 
4.17. We recognise the need for Ministers to be reassured about the work 

being undertaken to protect vulnerable children and support a data 
collection that is both informative and proportionate. However, we continue 
to have concerns about the amended data collection, in particular about 
the additional burden on already-stretched local authority teams and the 
lack of coordination with the data collection from schools.  

 
4.18. We have emphasised to the department that data received through 

this survey should not be used to make judgements about local authority 
performance or the vulnerability of children; rather, it should be one tool to 
support broader conversations and to help understand challenges facing 
local authorities. The data collection represents a significant increase in 
central oversight at an extremely challenging time for councils, and on its 
own it cannot reflect the complexity of child protection work. It is vital that 
the Department respects the professional judgement of Directors of 
Children’s Services and their teams as they work to keep children safe and 
make sure they are not being diverted from this vital task. 

 
4.19. The terms of reference for the REACT project stated that the aim 

was to provide support to councils in their response to COVID-19, and to 
provide comprehensive briefings to Ministers on the support offer for 
children and young people, and to escalate risks and issues. It was also 
intended that the teams would help to streamline requests for information 
from councils by the DfE and Ofsted. 

 
4.20. Feedback from the LGA’s regional children’s improvement advisers 

has indicated significant variation in the implementation of the teams. In 
some areas, the teams have offered a helpful route to escalate issues and 
to solve issues. However, feedback more frequently is that the teams are 
an additional burden to accommodate and have thus far provided limited 
support. We believe that these teams could have been more effective in 
helping councils to deliver support to vulnerable children and young people 
had councils played more of a role in establishing them and identifying the 
best ways to link them in to existing regional structures. This includes 
regional sector-led improvement structures which already provide 
significant support to councils. 

 
5. The effect of provider closure on the early years sector 

 
5.1. We have concerns around the financial viability of many early years 

settings as a result of the pandemic, alongside concerns about how 
information to the sector was managed by the Department in the initial 
months. 
 

5.2. On 17 March 2020, the Department for Education advised that they would 
continue to pay funding to councils for free entitlements (hereafter referred 
to as ‘DSG funding’) for two, three and four-year olds with the expectation 
that this would be passed through to early years providers even if they 
closed.viii This early clarification was welcome and provided assurance for 

Page 8

Agenda Item 2a



 

7 

 

providers to make informed decisions about their businesses (though as 
outlined below at paragraph 5.9, this decision was later amended). 

 
5.3. However, DSG funding only covers part of a providers’ costs, with the rest 

coming from parent paid fees and other sources. A reportix by Frontier 
Economics for the DfE in 2018 identified the following breakdown of income 
for providersx: 

 
 Early entitlement 

funding 

Parent paid fees Other sources 

Private  56% 39% 5% 

Voluntary 67% 25% 8% 

Nursery class 78% 12% 10% 

Maintained 

nursery school 

60% 18% 22% 

Childminder 77% 77% 3% 

All types 56% 38% 6% 

 
5.4. Parent fees cover a significant proportion of provider income, especially for 

private and voluntary providers and childminders, which provide 58 per 
cent of funded two-year-old places and 38 per cent of funded places for 
three and four-year olds nationally.xi This income has fallen significantly as 
parents rightly keep their children at home wherever it is safe to do so. 
 

5.5. Early years providers were asked to remain open where there were 
children of critical workers or vulnerable children who needed a place. 
However, only around 35 per cent of settings were open on Friday 24 
Aprilxii. Feedback from local authorities and provider representative groups 
indicate that financial concerns are the reason for many closures. Those 
that remain open report significant financial struggles, with some operating 
at a loss. 

 
5.6. This financial concern was been compounded by an announcement on 17 

April that early years settings cannot access the CJRS in full; rather, they 
can only access this for the proportion of their paybill that can be said to be 
privately funded.xiii This announcement came despite previous DfE 
guidance stating: 

 
The Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme means that for employees 
who are not working but kept on payroll, the government will contribute 
80% of each worker’s wages of up to £2,500, backdated to 1 March 
2020. Settings can access this scheme while continuing to be paid the 
early entitlements funding via local authorities. 

 
5.7. Many settings made business decisions to close based on the 

understanding that they could access both DSG funding and the CJRS for 
80 per cent of their entire paybill. While we understand the reasoning that 
no organisation should receive duplicative public funding – in this case, 
salaries should not be funded by both DSG and CJRS – this change in 
guidance put some early years settings at severe financial risk and meant 
many who had made decisions based on the original guidance found their 
business plans were no longer viable. 
 

5.8. We understand that the DfE considers the revised guidance to be a 
clarification rather than an amendment, as Treasury guidance had already 
stated access to the CJRS would only be where it would not duplicate other 
public funding. However, we believe it was unrealistic to have expected 

Page 9

Agenda Item 2a



 

8 

 

providers to check both DfE and Treasury guidance. It would have been 
more appropriate to ensure the DfE guidance was consistent with the 
Treasury guidance, for example by highlighting that there may be 
conditions or caveats for early years settings accessing the CJRS.  

 
5.9. On 28 April 2020, “use of free early education entitlements funding during 

coronavirus (COVID-19)” guidancexiv was issued by the DfE highlighting 
that councils could use their DSG funding differently during the COVID-19 
outbreak in order to ensure that children of critical workers and vulnerable 
children could continue to access their early education entitlements. The 
guidance outlined that in exceptional circumstances, councils could move 
funding from closed providers to open ones, to ensure ongoing sufficiency. 

 
5.10. While local flexibility is always welcome to help councils to respond 

to local need, this change from the initial advice (outlined at paragraph 5.2) 
caused further confusion and concern to early years providers. 

 
5.11. The guidance emphasised that if councils were to consider using the 

flexibility, they should consider not only the short-term provision of 
childcare places, but the longer-term sustainability of the setting funding 
was being removed from and the local childcare market more broadly. It is 
our view that however DSG funding is moved around, there is insufficient 
money in the system to both help those providers who have remained 
open, and protect those who have closed to ensure we still have adequate 
provision as we move out of the immediate crisis. We have called on the 
Government to provide additional funding to make sure that no provider 
loses out financially for staying open, and to make sure we have all of the 
childcare places we need going forward to make sure people can get back 
to work when the time comes. 

 
5.12. In addition to financial concerns outlined above, it has been 

disappointing that provision has not been made for childcare workers on 
furlough to be able to keep in touch with children and families. While on 
furlough, employees are not permitted to work for their employer, however 
we believe that allowing employees to continue to contact families to 
provide support and advice would have been a valuable offer both in terms 
of child development and safeguarding. 

 
5.13. In the longer term, we are concerned that providers will be faced 

with reduced demand for some time as parents may be reluctant to send 
children into childcare settings. Changing patterns of work and increasing 
unemployment may also reduce demand. However, it will be vital to ensure 
that all children can still access their early entitlements and that those 
parents who need childcare are able to access this. Support for providers 
is therefore crucial to ensure we can continue to support children and 
families through the vital early years. 

 
5.14. Concerns have been raised that, as more children return to school, 

it will be difficult for childminders and wraparound childcare to work with 
children and maintain the small groups or ‘bubbles’ recommended to 
minimise infection. This could lead to providers not opening immediately or 
ultimately going out of business, impacting on sufficiency and flexibility of 
childcare for families. Guidance from the Department for Education around 
how to safely care for children moving between settings has been limited, 
and providers and councils report confusion around how to safely return to 
work and increase their offer. 

 

Page 10

Agenda Item 2a



 

9 

 

6. The effect of cancelling exams, including the fairness of qualifications 
awarded and pupils’ progression to the next stage of education or 
employment. 

 
6.1. Young people who are currently in education or approaching the juncture 

to transition into further or higher education have found their studies 
paused or partially continuing digitally.  This means that many will not have 
access to face-to-face careers advice and support to make an effective 
transition to further or higher education, training or employment. Young 
people will also be missing out on the personal development curriculum, 
including employer interaction, work experience, which is fundamental to 
choosing the appropriate academic or vocational career pathway. 

 
6.2. We understand young people who have additional barriers or come from 

disadvantaged backgrounds are likely to be most adversely impacted, as 
they will be socially isolated and emotionally affected. Despite the best 
efforts of schools and colleges to keep-in-touch, these young people are 
unlikely to seek the advice and support needed, and this could have 
adversely impacted their chances of progressing into education, training or 
employment.  

 
6.3. Therefore, we expect there will be a spike in the number of those not in 

education, employment or training (NEET) from September onwards. This 
is concerning for councils both from an economic and community welfare 
perspective, as the cost of NEETs are significant, particularly over a 
lifetime. Being unemployed when young leads to a higher likelihood of long-
term ‘scarring’ in later life – in terms of subsequent lower pay, higher 
chances of unemployment and reduced life chancesxv.  

 
6.4. Councils are working hard to fulfil their statutory duties and mitigate the risk 

of NEETs. However, with a reduced number of training and employment 
opportunities expected, the Government needs to engage councils and 
combined authorities and partners to plan and guarantee an education, 
employment and training place for all young people who were due to leave 
school or college.  

 
6.5. This should be supported with high- quality careers, advice and guidance 

to ensure that the right academic or vocational pathway is chosen for their 
career. Also, with the roll-out of T Levels planned to start this September, 
it is essential to provide a coherent picture of all post-16 options.  

 
7. Support for pupils and families during closures, including: 

 The consistency of messaging from schools and further and higher 
education 

 Children and young people’s mental health and safety outside of the 
structure and oversight of in-person education 
 

7.1. We understand there has been a significant reduction in referrals to 
Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS), with some 
areas reporting a 50 per cent reductionxvi. It is thought that this is because 
of the closure of places where trusted adults may have picked up on 
emerging signs of mental distress and disorders and began referrals, such 
as schools, rather than need for services reducing.  
 

7.2. NHS-led mental health support units, council children’s services, housing 
services and public health services are developing new linkages and 
alternative referral routes to identify children needing mental health 
services. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 2a



 

10 

 

 
7.3. For children and young people already known to CAMHS, there has been 

a rapid move to remote support to allow the continuation of the service. 
Councils have been continuing to provide their existing children and young 
people’s mental health support services with greater online interaction and 
an increasing number have been enhancing their service provision with 
new digital support programmes.  

 
7.4. A key element of the Government’s plans for the future of children’s mental 

health services has been the implementation of mental health units 
connected to groups of schools to facilitate links and referrals. This is being 
rolled out via a series of ‘trailblazers’, with a first ‘wave’ of 57 in 2018/19. It 
is the intention for 123 Mental Health Support Teams (MHST) to be 
developed during 2020xvii. Whilst the LGA advocates increased support for 
pupils’ mental health in schools and for greater investment in children’s 
mental health services, we have long argued that the mental health units 
should also be working with local children’s services as well as schools to 
ensure children not educated in school, excluded from school, and in other 
circumstances also have the benefit of linking in with the mental health 
units. We have also argued that the key role of school nurses has been 
overlooked in the development of mental health support units. We 
understand that the closure of the schools has meant that the mental health 
support units are having to work in different ways, including forging greater 
links with children’s services and the local community and voluntary sector 
as a way to reach out to children in need of support. We support 
maintaining these new ways of working after schools reopen. 
 

7.5. Overall, and particularly as schools re-open, we continue to caution against 
the over-medicalisation of children and the assumption that action on 
children’s mental health means treating mental illness. We need to be 
facilitating mentally healthy childhoods and equipping parents and children 
with the ability to look after their mental health. We need to address the 
causes of mental distress rather than continuing to pile pressure on our 
CAMHS services. 

 
The effect on apprenticeships and other workplace-based education courses 
 

7.6. Young people who are currently on apprenticeship training and other 
workplace-based education will be impacted in a number of ways. Most 
providers have responded positively and moved many elements of their 
training provision digitally, where possible. Nevertheless, practical 
assessments in many cases have been paused, resulting in delays in 
completing apprenticeships.  Fixed-term contracts are also likely to come 
to an end before apprenticeships are completed without certainty about 
future employment.  
 

7.7. In addition, there are a range of challenges that are affecting the delivery 
of apprenticeships.  Employers, including councils’ as employers, are 
continuing to pay the Apprenticeship Levy but are unable to spend or 
transfer funds during the crisis due to widespread pauses in training and 
recruitment. This may potentially compromise the delivery and limit the 
number of apprenticeship opportunities.  

 
7.8. We believe Apprenticeship Levy funding should be paused to avoid any 

funds expiring during and shortly after the crisis period, particularly where 
they were earmarked for activity that has since been delayed due to 
COVID-19 and would not therefore have expired otherwise.  

 

Page 12

Agenda Item 2a



 

11 

 

7.9. The withdrawal of Apprenticeship Frameworks, due to take place in July 
2020, should be paused for at least six months to allow Apprentices to 
complete their training in a timely manner and ensure that planned training 
on these Frameworks that was due to start before the withdrawal but has 
been delayed or disrupted due to COVID-19 can be resumed at a later 
date. Levy payments should also be paused for public sector bodies for the 
duration of the COVID-19 crisis. 

 

8. The effect on disadvantaged groups, including the Department’s 
approach to free school meals and the long-term impact on the most 
vulnerable groups (such as pupils with special educational needs and 
disabilities and children in need) 

 
Free school meals 

 
8.1. Councils and schools have highlighted significant concerns regarding the 

operation of the DfE’s national free school meal voucher scheme, which is 
being provided by Edenred. 
 

8.2. Specific issues that have been raised with the LGA include, school staff 
having to log on late at night to be able to access the system, that the 
instructions on how to print vouchers for specific supermarkets are not clear 
and parents have said to schools that they are not clear what to do with the 
vouchers once they have been e-mailed. 

 
8.3. A survey of schools in the South East region found that 28 out of 44 schools 

that responded had issues with receiving the voucher codes on behalf of 
their parents or printing them off.  Of the 28 schools who reported issues 
with their vouchers being received 9 reported that they had yet to receive 
vouchers. 

 
8.4. We know that in some instances this has meant that schools have had to 

make alternative arrangements to continue to provide free school meals 
and at this stage it is unclear whether they will be reimbursed by the 
Department for the costs associated with these alternative arrangements. 

 
8.5. Councils have also raised concerns about the range of supermarket chains 

that have signed up to participate in the national voucher scheme, with an 
uneven geographical spread of shops making it much more difficult for 
parents and carers to access the scheme in some areas. 

 
Special Educational Needs and Disability  

 
8.6. One of the first major issues that councils raised with the LGA was the 

pressure that they and partners in the NHS and schools were facing in 
continuing to meet all Children and Families Act duties. This included 
councils being threatened with legal action by parents, carers and their 
solicitors. 
 

8.7. This was accompanied by feedback that some clinical commissioning 
groups (CCGs) were also considering how best to bolster their front-line 
clinical capacity in order to deal with the pandemic. While this was clearly 
the right response in order to support the NHS, it resulted in delays in 
statutory assessments of children and young people around their SEND 
needs, which meant the timeliness of producing Education, Health and 
Care Plans (EHCP) became increasingly difficult and left councils open to 
unnecessary challenge. 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 2a



 

12 

 

8.8. We therefore welcome the Department’s decision to use provisions set out 
in the Coronavirus Act 2020 to relax the duty on councils and their partners 
to secure special educational provision and health care provision in 
accordance with an EHC Plan. Under these new arrangements councils 
and their partners must use their ‘reasonable endeavours’ to secure the 
provision set out in an EHCP, meaning that a child or young person’s 
provision as delivered may differ temporarily from what is set out in their 
EHCP. 

 
8.9. It is however disappointing that the Department was unable to apply this 

change retrospectively to start on the 20th March, the date on which the 
Prime Minister announced that schools would be closed. This has resulted 
in some councils, and their partners, becoming the subject of legal action 
for not being able to deliver the support set out in EHCPs as a result of staff 
sickness and the redeployment of staff within the NHS. 

 
8.10. We believe that further legal challenges on what constitutes 

‘reasonable endeavours’ are inevitable and it is therefore vital that the 
Department for Education discusses the implications of the updated 
legislation with the Ministry of Justice and publicly clarify their expectations 
of what councils, schools and the NHS can deliver during the Covid-19 
pandemic to ensure that expectations of parents, carers and families can 
be managed. 

 
8.11. Significant extra pressure has been placed on council’s SEND 

teams to support children and young people due to Covid-19, due to an 
increased volume of work. Specifically, this has included increased contact 
with parents and families, the creation of new and extension of existing 
services and; the re-design of delivery models. This is in addition to co-
ordinating risk assessments, making home arrangements for the most 
vulnerable; and fielding increased parental enquiries. We are concerned 
that many children with SEND whose needs have not been entirely met 
while they have been away from school, will require additional support 
when they return, for example additional support from Educational 
Psychologists, and this will place additional requirements on already 
stretched high needs budgets. 

 
8.12. As plans to open schools to more pupils on the 1st and 15th June 

for primary and secondary pupils respectively have developed, councils 
have flagged concerns about their ability to deliver home-to-school 
transport services. Specific concerns focus on the capacity of providers to 
supply sufficient numbers of buses and other vehicles that allow for social 
distancing, increasing costs, particularly in terms of home-to-school 
transport for children with SEND, the safety of the workforce providing 
these services and; persuading parents that it is safe for their children to 
use public transport to travel to school when wider messaging has been to 
use only when absolutely necessary. 

 

Children in need  
 

8.13. Children with social workers are more likely to experience poor 
educational outcomes than their peers. The DfE’s Children in Need review 
in 2019 identified that “children who have needed a social worker have 
poorer educational outcomes at every stage of education than those who 
have not, and taking account of other factors associated with attainment, 
are up to 50 per cent less likely to achieve a strong pass in English and 
maths GCSEs”.xviii 
 

Page 14

Agenda Item 2a



 

13 

 

8.14. National dataxix indicates that only around one in ten vulnerable 
children are attending school. Schools and social workers have been 
working closely with families to encourage attendance at school but have 
reported that there are significant challenges, in particular trying to 
persuade families that there was no risk in sending children to school  
particularly during the previous national “stay at home, save lives” 
message. There have also been concerns from children and families about 
being identified as having a social worker. Children in need have higher 
overall absence rates than all children or looked-after children, with 32 per 
cent classed as persistent absentees in 2019 compared to 10.9 per cent of 
all children and looked-after children.xx Encouraging these children to 
attend school during a time when national messaging was to stay at home, 
and most children are not expected to attend, clearly has had further 
challenges. 

 
8.15. Councils have been working with schools to try to support children 

in need who are not attending, both to limit the impact on their education 
and to ensure that they are safe. In terms of education, councils have raised 
concerns that many children in need do not have good access to a 
computer or other device for online learning (for example, in households 
with one computer for the family), or to an internet connection. Work by the 
DfE to provide vulnerable children with devices to enable online learning is 
welcome, however putting in place a national procurement programme 
clearly takes time, and the indications are the devices are unlikely to be 
available until at least June, more than two months after most children 
stopped attending school. This is a significant amount of time for children 
to have only very limited access to learning. We believe a more localised 
solution, with councils procuring devices and being reimbursed by the 
Government, would have been a quicker and more effective solution.  

 
8.16. Councils are very concerned about additional vulnerabilities arising 

from the COVID-19 pandemic. This includes more families living in poverty; 
mental health issues amongst both children and parents; increasing 
domestic abuse; and increasing substance misuse issues. In particular, 
councils are concerned that falling referrals to children’s social care 
following the partial closure of schools means that children are 
experiencing ‘hidden harm’, which may only come to light as we move into 
recovery. Work is taking place locally to try to ensure that partners and 
communities are engaged in identifying children at risk, however councils 
are also planning for a spike in referrals when all children return to school. 

 
8.17. It is likely that the impacts of these issues on children will be far-

reaching, lasting far beyond the recovery period for some, resulting in 
ongoing pressures for children’s services after other areas may have 
recovered. It is vital that the Government considers this in its recovery 
planning, ensuring that the right services are available to provide children 
and their families with support to come to terms with any trauma suffered 
during the pandemic, and to go on to live happy, healthy lives.  

 

9. What contingency planning can be done to ensure the resilience of the 
sector in case of any future national emergency 
 
9.1. Councils, schools and early years providers have coped extraordinarily well 

through the pandemic, pulling together to ensure that children and young 
people are supported and kept safe.  
 

9.2. We believe that the Department for Education should work with schools, 
councils and other partners to develop contingency planning arrangements 

Page 15

Agenda Item 2a



 

14 

 

for the possible future closure of schools and other settings. While we 
appreciate that the Covid-19 situation developed quickly, very little notice 
was given to schools about closure; as a result, schools and councils were 
waiting for guidance and in many instances had to develop their own 
arrangements locally. In other instances, such as early years settings 
access to the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme guidance was 
contradictory. Elsewhere we believe that a local approach to delivering free 
school meals would have been more effective, building on the existing base 
of school meals providers and local arrangements between schools and 
councils. 
 

9.3. However, this is in spite of significant funding challenges facing the entire 
sector, and has been a result of the good will, innovation and determination 
of individuals. We know that many council officers, social workers and 
educators have been working seven days a week to keep children safe, in 
part due to limited capacity in teams following years of austerity. This is 
clearly not sustainable, nor should we rely on this for future crises. 

 
9.4. It is essential that going forward, all parts of the sector are properly funded, 

not only to allow them to build resilience in case of another national 
emergency, but to ensure they can fully support children and families 
through recovery and beyond.  

 
9.5. It is also vital that councils have absolute clarity over the funding available 

for the COVID-19 response and recovery. They have stepped up to provide 
support to the most vulnerable in our communities while keeping day-to-
day services running. They must not be expected to cover the burden of 
this from already depleted reserves or by cutting services further.  

 
9.6. Grant funding worth £3.2 billion and cash flow measures have been 

welcome and provide additional certainty over the short term. The 
Government must continue to demonstrate a rock-solid commitment that it 
will meet the extra costs local authorities are facing due to the additional 
demands created by COVID-19, including on education and children’s 
services and any additional costs of delivering ‘business as usual’ and the 
loss of income resulting from the lockdown. Councils could need as much 
as £6 billion more to cover the costs of coping with the coronavirus 
pandemic during this financial year. This figure will need to be kept under 
review. 
 

9.7. The Coronavirus Actxxi gives the Secretary of State for Education powers 
to direct educational providers to temporarily remain open, powers that 
can be delegated to councils. At the time of writing the power to close 
settings, which will be vital in helping councils tackle new clusters of 
Covid-19, should they emerge as numbers of children in education 
settings increase, have yet to be delegated. In future these powers should 
sit with councils as a matter of routine to help ensure local areas can 
respond effectively to a future national emergency and subsequent 
recovery. 

 
9.8. Councils are keen to support their local schools to get children back as 

soon as possible. However, the safety of children, their families and staff 
will always be the top priority. Plans to re-open schools and early years 
settings were hampered by the Government’s failure to share the scientific 
advice that underpinned their decision with teachers, families and children 
and young people in a timely manner. We are pleased that the Government 
has now published the scientific evidence ahead of the proposed date to 
reopen primary schools for some children, as called for by the LGA and 

Page 16

Agenda Item 2a



 

15 

 

councils. The Government must share such information as a matter of 
urgency when responding to a future national emergency; we know parents 
are anxious about sending their children into settings, as evidenced by the 
low numbers of vulnerable children and children of key workers that have 
been attending since the start of the lock-down. A clear national message 
is now needed from government about the safe return of children to schools 
and the scientific advice must be accessible for all parents to support efforts 
by schools and councils.  

 
9.9. As there are different COVID-19 infection rates around the country, schools 

and councils must be able to work together to decide how and when 
schools open to more children. Some areas may want to work faster than 
others. Councils also need crucial testing data to be shared with them, to 
help enable greater confidence for teachers and parents around school 
openings, and powers to manage outbreaks in places like schools, care 
homes, businesses and communities if new COVID-19 clusters emerge. 

 

i https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/gavin-williamson-speech-on-covid-19-response 
iihttps://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/883174/COVI

D19_attendance_in_education_settings_to_300420.pdf  
iiihttps://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/881662/COVI
D19_attendance_in_education_settings_240420.pdf 
ivhttps://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/883174/COV

ID19_attendance_in_education_settings_to_300420.pdf  
vhttps://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/881662/COVI

D19_attendance_in_education_settings_240420.pdf  
vihttps://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/883174/COV

ID19_attendance_in_education_settings_to_300420.pdf  
vii https://www.isospartnership.com/blog/how-local-education-systems-are-responding-to-the-coronavirus-crisis  
viii https://www.gov.uk/government/news/free-childcare-offers-to-continue-during-coronavirus-closures 
ix 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/828530/Fronti
er_-_Childcare_Cost_Study2.pdf 
x It should be noted that report gives the following caveat to these findings: “The estimates of the cost and 
income measures have large confidence intervals and may differ from other sources because of the small 
sample size.” (p35) 
xi https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/education-provision-children-under-5-years-of-age-january-2019 
xii https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-attendance-in-education-and-early-years-
settings 
xiii https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-financial-support-for-education-early-years-
and-childrens-social-care/coronavirus-covid-19-financial-support-for-education-early-years-and-childrens-social-
care#sector-specific-guidance 
xiv https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/use-of-free-early-education-entitlements-funding-during-the-
coronavirus-outbreak/use-of-free-early-education-entitlements-funding-during-coronavirus-covid-19 
xv https://www.employment-studies.co.uk/resource/getting-back-work-0 
xvi https://www.hsj.co.uk/coronavirus/major-drop-off-in-referrals-to-childrens-mental-health-

services/7027373.article 
xvii https://www.england.nhs.uk/mental-health/cyp/trailblazers/mh-support-teams/  
xviii https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/review-of-children-in-need/review-of-children-in-need#key-
findings-from-our-data-and-analysis 
xix https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-attendance-in-education-and-early-years-
settings 
xx 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/875529/CLA_
Outcomes_Main_Text_2019.pdf 
xxixxi http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2020/7/contents/enacted 

                                                

Page 17

Agenda Item 2a

https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/gavin-williamson-speech-on-covid-19-response
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/883174/COVID19_attendance_in_education_settings_to_300420.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/883174/COVID19_attendance_in_education_settings_to_300420.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/883174/COVID19_attendance_in_education_settings_to_300420.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/883174/COVID19_attendance_in_education_settings_to_300420.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/881662/COVID19_attendance_in_education_settings_240420.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/881662/COVID19_attendance_in_education_settings_240420.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/883174/COVID19_attendance_in_education_settings_to_300420.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/883174/COVID19_attendance_in_education_settings_to_300420.pdf
https://www.isospartnership.com/blog/how-local-education-systems-are-responding-to-the-coronavirus-crisis
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/free-childcare-offers-to-continue-during-coronavirus-closures
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/828530/Frontier_-_Childcare_Cost_Study2.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/828530/Frontier_-_Childcare_Cost_Study2.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/education-provision-children-under-5-years-of-age-january-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-attendance-in-education-and-early-years-settings
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-attendance-in-education-and-early-years-settings
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-financial-support-for-education-early-years-and-childrens-social-care/coronavirus-covid-19-financial-support-for-education-early-years-and-childrens-social-care#sector-specific-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-financial-support-for-education-early-years-and-childrens-social-care/coronavirus-covid-19-financial-support-for-education-early-years-and-childrens-social-care#sector-specific-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-financial-support-for-education-early-years-and-childrens-social-care/coronavirus-covid-19-financial-support-for-education-early-years-and-childrens-social-care#sector-specific-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/use-of-free-early-education-entitlements-funding-during-the-coronavirus-outbreak/use-of-free-early-education-entitlements-funding-during-coronavirus-covid-19
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/use-of-free-early-education-entitlements-funding-during-the-coronavirus-outbreak/use-of-free-early-education-entitlements-funding-during-coronavirus-covid-19
https://www.employment-studies.co.uk/resource/getting-back-work-0
https://www.hsj.co.uk/coronavirus/major-drop-off-in-referrals-to-childrens-mental-health-services/7027373.article
https://www.hsj.co.uk/coronavirus/major-drop-off-in-referrals-to-childrens-mental-health-services/7027373.article
https://www.england.nhs.uk/mental-health/cyp/trailblazers/mh-support-teams/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/review-of-children-in-need/review-of-children-in-need#key-findings-from-our-data-and-analysis
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/review-of-children-in-need/review-of-children-in-need#key-findings-from-our-data-and-analysis
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/875529/CLA_Outcomes_Main_Text_2019.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/875529/CLA_Outcomes_Main_Text_2019.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2020/7/contents/enacted




 

 

Children and Young People Board 

 

09 June 2020 

 

     

 

 
 

Children and Young People Board priorities 

 

Purpose of report 

For discussion and direction. 
 

Summary 

Given the impact of the Coronavirus pandemic on schools and children’s services, this report 
suggests revised future priorities for the Children and Young People Board, for discussion. 
 
 
 

   
 

 

 

 

 
Contact officer:  Ian Keating 

Position:   Principal Policy Adviser 

Phone no:   0207 664 3032 

Email:    ian.keating@local.gov.uk 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation 

That the Board discuss and agree a revised set of priorities. 
 
Action 
 
Officers to progress as directed. 
 

Page 19

Agenda Item 3



 

 

Children and Young People Board 

 

09 June 2020 

 

     

 

 

Children and Young People Board priorities 

Background  
 
1. Given the impact of the Coronavirus pandemic on schools and children’s services the 

Board is asked to reflect on short and long-term priorities for lobbying, policy development 
and improvement. 

 
Proposed priorities 
 
Early years/children’s social care 

Immediate 

2. Financial support for early years providers to make sure we have enough childcare when 
people start going back to work. 

 
Longer term 

3. We expect a rise in demand for children’s social care that will last well beyond the initial 
recovery as the impact of coronavirus plays out e.g. increased poverty, family breakdown, 
mental health issues. We need children’s social care to be adequately funded to cope with 
this, to support children and their families from the earliest stage possible. 
 

4. Councils, children’s social care providers and the government will need to work closely 
together to make sure we have enough appropriate placements available for children in 
care. This was a significant issue before coronavirus, we expect numbers to go even 
higher as we move through recovery so we need to be sure we can properly support these 
children and young people.  
 

5. We must learn lessons from the new ways of working implemented throughout lockdown. 
While the situation clearly had significant negative impacts, we have also heard some very 
positive stories, including improved relationships between children and staff in children’s 
homes, some better working practices with courts, improved engagement with education 
amongst young people previously at risk of exclusion, and improved relationships between 
social workers and families thanks to the addition of more practical support. These lessons 
must not be lost, and councils and providers must be supported to have the ‘headspace’ 
they need to embed new ways of working where appropriate. 
 

Education 

Immediate 

6. Councils have been pivotal in leading local education systems during lockdown, the 
closure of schools to most pupils and in supporting schools to stay open for the children 
of key workers and vulnerable children. DfE should continue to support councils and 
schools facing a very complex set of issues as schools reopen to more children and 
recognise the need for powers to open and close schools to be devolved to councils to 
deal with local flare-ups in infections; for timely access to testing, tracking and tracing data; 

Page 20

Agenda Item 3



 

 

Children and Young People Board 

 

09 June 2020 

 

     

 

 
for planning and funding to tackle the public transport challenges of increasing numbers 
of pupils returning to schools; and for appropriate resources for schools and councils to 
deal with the additional support that will be needed for children’s emotional wellbeing and 
to help them catch up following an extended period out of school. 
 

7. To continue to allow councils and partners flexibility to deliver support to children and 
young people with Education, Health and Care Plans, while schools are not operating as 
normal and CCG resources are focussed on recovery. 

 

Longer term 

8. A ‘reset’ in the relationship between schools and councils. The pandemic has highlighted 
the importance of councils working closely with all schools, including academies, as well 
as the vital partnership between children’s services departments and local schools in 
keeping children safe. Councils should be given the powers and funding to ensure all 
schools work closely with education and children’s services to ensure they are fulfilling 
their safeguarding responsibilities effectively. 
 

9. The Government’s on-going review of the SEND system must ensure that councils have 
the powers and funding to act as local leaders of SEND systems, allowing them to hold 
partners to account for the support they provide to children and young people with SEND, 
as well as sufficient funding to meet the ever-increasing demand for support. This should 
include the opportunity to consider new ways of working that have been implemented as 
a result of the lockdown and that have benefited children and young people with SEND, 
as well as councils, schools and CCGs. 
 

10. We plan to commission research on the council role in managing the partial closure and 
reopening of schools and their priorities for the recovery in the medium and long term. 

 

Children and young people’s mental health 

11. COVID-19 is likely to lead to an increase in mental ill-health in children and young people, 
both as a direct consequence of the virus and as a result of the measures necessary to 
contain it. There are likely to be groups who are more vulnerable to experiencing mental 
health issues, such as those with pre-existing conditions, young carers, vulnerable 
children, those in households with domestic abuse, those in households experiencing 
economic hardship, those in households where adults have been experiencing mental 
health issues and/or substance abuse, those experiencing Adverse Childhood 
Experiences (ACEs), etc.  Increases in depression, anxiety and stress are expected as a 
result of uncertainty, particularly around examinations and transitions. Issues are also 
expected to arise in the long term where behavioural developmental milestones are 
affected by isolation. 

 
Immediate 

12. That central government recognise that mental wellbeing is crucial to nearly every aspect 
of recovery planning – from reopening schools, to getting the country safely back to work 
and dealing with the economic and housing consequences of the pandemic – and that the 

Page 21

Agenda Item 3



 

 

Children and Young People Board 

 

09 June 2020 

 

     

 

 
wellbeing response is best led locally by councils who have the insight, community assets 
(such as parks, libraries and local authority-led schools) and partnerships to identify need 
and target interventions.  
 

13. In order to support children and young people’s mental health and wellbeing during any 
recovery and resilience phase, local public mental health and children’s services, 
alongside the local voluntary and community sector, must be adequately resourced to 
meet both new and unmet demand that has built up during the pandemic, to invest in 
preventative mental wellbeing work at scale and to respond to any further turning on and 
off of restrictions, particularly where these have to occur on a local basis.  
 

14. That we adopt a whole-family approach to the provision of mental health and wellbeing 
support to ensure the needs of children, parents and carers are addressed. This is best 
achieved through councils, bringing together public health, children’s services and adult 
services. 
 

15. That welcomed new national voluntary sector funding for mental health needs filter into 
local initiatives, particularly with regards to bereavement support for children and young 
people. 
 

16. Councils must have access to the data being collected by PHE and DHSE on the emerging 
picture of mental health and wellbeing, the demand for support and possible peaks in the 
demand for support to enable an effective local response, especially for children and 
young people’s suicide risk, self-harm and eating disorders. This will be particularly 
important for councils facing local lockdown decisions. 
 

17. Despite the challenging situation, it is essential that vulnerable people’s human rights are 
protected, particularly the rights of children and young people. Any emergency provisions 
to the Mental Health Act that are enacted must only be used when there are significant 
staff shortages, there is an immediate risk to people’s safety, for the shortest length of time 
possible, and councils must be fully involved in the decision to use the provisions.   
 

18. DHSC must confirm funding for year 2 of the LGA/ADPH suicide prevention SLI 
programme as a matter of urgency so that we can get on with delivering practical support 
to councils on suicide prevention and COVID-19.  

 

Longer term 

19. We need to build on the increased awareness of the importance of good mental health 
and wellbeing to reframe the children and young people’s mental health interventions from 
treating mental ill-health in clinical settings to creating mentally healthy childhoods.  
 

We need to build on the good practice and innovations that have developed as part of the 

response to COVID-19, such as the increased use of digital platforms, to enhance the 

mental health and wellbeing support that can be offered to children and young people.  

Children’s Health 

Page 22

Agenda Item 3



 

 

Children and Young People Board 

 

09 June 2020 

 

     

 

 
Immediate 

20. Push for adequate resources and capacity for the Healthy Child Programme to play a part 
in a national immunisations catch up programme to ensure a secondary pandemic in 
diseases such as measles, is prevented. 
 

21. Review of impact of COVID-19 on other areas of children’s health such as healthy weight, 
oral health and how LAs can plan to address the impact.  
 

22. Work with schools and DfE to highlight impact of missed Relationship and Sex Education 
if Year 6 do not receive it as planned, this summer term.  

 

Longer term 

23. Rebuilding the Healthy Child Programme workforce to ensure children and families are 
supported, unmet need is identified and work begins to address the adverse impact 
COVID-19 is predicted to have had on health inequalities.  
 

24. Work with DfE and PHE to ensure the implementation of the new curriculum in 
Relationship, Health and Sex Education (planned for September 2021) in primary and 
secondary schools is delayed as appropriate and local authorities and schools have the 
time and resources they need to ensure it is delivered safely and additional support needs 
for both teachers and students are in place.  
 

Financial implications 
 
25. It is expected that the work programme arising from the priorities set will be covered within 

existing budgets.     
 
Implications for Wales 
 
26. Education and children’s services are devolved matters. The LGA will liaise with WLGA 

on issues of common interest and concern. 
 
Next Steps 
  
27. Officers to progress as directed. 

Page 23

Agenda Item 3





Document is Restricted

Page 25

Agenda Item 4





 

 

 
 

 
 

                                                                          

Note of last Children & Young People Board meeting 
 

Title: 
 

Children & Young People Board 

Date: 
 

Wednesday 22 January 2020 

Venue: Smith Square 3&4, Ground Floor, 18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 
3HZ 

  

 
Attendance 
An attendance list is attached as Appendix A to this note. 

 
 

Item Decisions and actions Action 
 

1   Declarations of Interest 
  

 

 The Chairman welcomed colleagues to the meeting and apologies 
were noted. 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 

 

 

2   Healthy Child Programme Update 
  

 

 This item was replaced by a presentation from the Early Intervention 
Foundation (EIF) on Early intervention in the first five years 
 
Cllr Judith Blake CBE (Chair) introduced Dr Kirsten Asmussen, Head of 
What Works, Child Development, Early Intervention Foundation (EIF).  

 
The speaker had kindly agreed to attend at short notice after the original 
presenter from Public Health England had to withdraw due to sickness 
and the Chair acknowledged this. She informed Dr Asmussen of the 
Board’s support of their work and that members were pleased to have the 
opportunity to work directly with them.  

 
Dr Asmussen introduced the background to her talk and thanked the 
Board for the opportunity to participate and present to the Board. 
Members received the presentation on work currently underway to look at 
a range of early interventions with an aim to improve outcomes for 
children and families. The speaker outlined the purpose behind the EIF 
and the importance of supporting its work with most recent evidence, 
proven outcomes and the most important domains vital to early 
development. 

 
The presentation looked at the important period of children’s brain 
development and in particular school readiness at age 5. This looked at 
physical readiness, cognition and factual knowledge at that age, 
communicative ability, management of impulses and social and emotional 
measurements. Dr Asmussen referred to factors which impact negatively 
on progress.  

 

Page 35

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 
 

 

 
Members noted a range of interventions and practices published in a 
series of reports. The speaker outlined the nature and timing of support 
recommended and ways in which parents can be provided with targeted 
help, appropriate to their own requirements and needs. Evidence-based 
therapies have proven to have a positive impact on some outcomes for 
the parent. These have also been shown to have long-term benefits. 

 
Dr Asmussen referred to The Healthy Child Programme which is set to 
make delivery possible of a range of interventions available at the level of 
need. She acknowledged however that there are certain challenges in 
identifying the actual needs and discussed processes being used to 
access data and correct information. Part of this includes the work of the 
Early Years Transformation Academy which supports five local areas to 
assess local needs and determine priorities in order to address these, 
working together with the local authorities.  

 
Members heard about the different kind of issues faced by populations 
within particular areas and how specific circumstances affect these. 
Delays in development are evident in certain cases and the speaker 
discussed how helping local authorities develop an evidence based 
combined strategy and theory of change would help address future needs. 

 
Dr Asmussen spoke about EIF’s recommendations to Government and 
local authorities for an active focus on enabling more effective 
management of these issues. 

 
The Chair thanked the speaker and invited comments from the Board. 

 
Key points from members included; 

 

 Appreciation of the work done to date on Bright Futures. However, 
there are concerns about training and responsibility referenced in the 
background paper for this item – is it the responsibility of the NHS to 
train health visitors?   

- The officer responded that Health Education England and the 
NHS are responsible for training health visitors. Health visitors 
are still being trained but there are insufficient numbers coming 
through in addition to poor retention in the current workforce. 
The LGA have been lobbying for a comprehensive workforce 
plan for public health and community nurses such as health 
visitors and school nurses, this remain a priority.   

 The UK is a leader in this field due to the existence of the Health Child 
Programme but is it also leading in delivery of outcomes?  
- The speaker said that we do not know the long term outcomes – 

although the data is available, local areas need to be better at 
looking at these as a priority. 

 

 Members referred to ‘at risk’ children and the fact that poverty is not a 
given. Poverty is something that can be tackled which would change 
the outcome. How are children affected with special educational needs 
and disabilities (SEND) and in poverty identified and intervention 
provided at an early stage?  
- It was agreed that these often overlap but it is very difficult to know 

this and correctly assess this before the age of four. However, 

Page 36

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 
 

 

parents of children younger than this should be able to get the 
support needed as required. The health visiting workforce is vital 
to this. 

 

 Members were concerned about early intervention with the parents 
and the effects on outcomes for their children. 

 

 Members asked for more details on Shiny Apps and Fingertips (the 
PHE data tool) and also asked for more information on areas where 
existing data can be accessed.  

 
- The speaker suggested that local assessment and measuring 

systems would provide a  
better understanding of population needs if local councils have the 
resources available. 

 

 Members asked what the LGA could do more to lobby for the right 
level of resources so that improving outcomes is achievable and 
sustainable.  

- The speaker suggested that joined up working and the provision of 
evidence is vital to approaching government for this. 

 

 A lot of work being done is not continuing because of parent 
disengagement and members questioned how this can be managed.  

- The speaker referred to the role of health visitors in ensuring it 
continues beyond the 1001 first days. 

 

 Members referred to work around previous attempts in increasing the 
number of health visitors and difficulties in assessing impact of their 
involvement. It was felt that time allocations and other pressures 
affects their ability to provide an effective and supportive service and 
these also need to be afforded. There were concerns that home-
schooled children are also likely to be missed.  

- Dr Asmussen agreed that there are issues around workload and 
that data should be used as evidence to plan for need in the future. 
National support is important.  

 

 Members referred to the work of the EIF Transformation Academy and 
the speaker suggested that work would continue around particular 
areas. Vanessa Lucas agreed to circulate a list of the areas involved, 
to colleagues. 

 
The Chair raised concerns about accessibility or young mothers and also 
said that fathers should not be forgotten as key influencers who are very 
significant to early years development. She thanked the speaker for an 
informative and interesting presentation and agreed that work around 
children and young people’s health would continue as a joint priority.  
 
Louise Smith, (Senior Advisor, LGA) took the opportunity to remind 
members of the Cornerstone VR Preview training session available to 
them following this meeting. Unfortunately some stated that they were 
unable to attend this time and so it was agreed to notify the Board should 
another opportunity arise in the future.  

 
Members requested a copy of the presentation be made available to them 

Page 37

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 
 

 

in advance of circulation of the minutes.  
Action: Fatima de Abreu, LGA Member Services 
 
 
Details of the academies involved were requested and it was agreed that 
this would also be circulated.  
Action: Vanessa Lucas 
 

3   Raising the Age of Criminal Responsibility 
  

 

 The Chair outlined the purpose of discussion in anticipation of future 
consultation with government on a decision. Louise Smith summarised the 
background and government’s position and briefly outlined key points from 
the report. She invited members’ opinion in order to get an idea of their 
views in case the LGA is asked. 

 
Members noted the report and made the following points; 

 

 Although sympathetic to the direction of the report, they felt that the 
actual numbers of children affected are small and have fallen even 
more since 2011. Alternatives need to be clearer, particularly for those 
just under the age of criminal responsibility and they asked what the 
implications for new burdens on local authorities would be. 

 
 

 There were concerns about the youngest children who are targeted 
and used by older people to commit crime and said that assurance 
needs to be given that these children would get the right support over 
a criminal record. 

 

 There would be an impact on the law enforcement system and 
members felt that an informed decision cannot yet be reached until 
statistics on current levels of support are provided. In other words, are 
systems in place already to divert those particularly vulnerable children 
who are not convicted but need intervention? 

 

 There were concerns at a lack of evidence around whether 
interventions were working and although the majority of members 
agreed in principle that the age of criminality should be increased, they 
agreed that the Board should receive further information to formulate a 
fuller position. 

 

 It was suggested that in order to be better informed, engagement with 
youth workers and other relevant service officers, as well as the Youth 
Justice Board would be useful.  

 
Members noted a future review of how young people are looked after and 
their outcomes. They agreed that the LGA will need to provide input into 
this when it happens. They felt that this issue needs to be taken forward 
with greater discussion and with a view to contribute in due course. 
Evidence of outcomes is vital to any decision and members were in 
agreement that it was correct for the LGA to campaign further on this 
work. 

 

 

Page 38

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 
 

 

Members asked for more information on numbers and types of convictions 
of children aged 10-12 in order to help them take a proper informed view. 
They were in support of an LGA campaign to look at this and agreed that 
the Board should continue to take this forward at future meetings. 
Research should also include looking at ethnicity and similarities around 
local areas and also study the background of those diverted to crime.  

 
In principle, the group agreed that the age of criminal responsibility is too 
low. It was agreed that this work will be incorporated into the priorities of 
the Board in order to inform a decision should it be needed in the future. 
 

4   Post-Election Priorities 
  

 

 Members noted the paper which outlined priorities for the Board after the 
recent election. Ian Keating (Principal Policy Advisor, LGA) discussed the 
current processes in agreeing and setting these. Members noted the item 
and suggestions for future work.  

 
The Board heard of pressures around funding and the work being done to 
lobby for more funding for children’s services, high need and the early 
years programme. Mr Keating addressed issues around school 
placements, particularly for those with special needs and local authority 
input into where schools should be built. Members agreed that Local 
Authorities should have the final say on these type of decisions. 

 
Key points were noted of work undertaken to; 

 

 Allow flexibility around the funding formula and distribution; 
 

 Focus more on reviewing schools capital and support of failing 
academies; 

 

 Deal with items not addressed within the Queen’s speech. 
 

Members went on to discuss the current debate around adoption 
processes and current legislation in addition to the lack of support to 
councils in ensuring high quality education.  

 
 

 
Concerns about the context of the report included; 

 

 Voice of the Child should be the first point and their feelings should be 
fed in to the review of the care system; 

 

 A proper definition of ‘early years’ needs to be included; 
 

 There were questions about supporting teachers in their discipline 
decisions and growing numbers of exclusions; 

 

 The lack of firm decisions on home school registers following the 
recent consultation; 

 

 SEND is not just a funding issue but also a systemic problem; 

 

Page 39

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 
 

 

 

 Vulnerable children falling out of the system is a key issue to be 
considered; 

 

 The use of isolation booths needs to be properly considered; 
 

 More security is required over long-term funding rather than a 
proliferation of one-off grants; 

 

 Transition from children to adult services is very complex and should 
be looked at, while specific issues to consider for care leavers include 
management of finances etc. 

 
The Chair thanked members for an interesting contribution to the 
discussion.  

 

5   Bright Futures 2019 - Getting the Best for 30 Years 
  

 

 Members noted the report on Bright Futures 2019 – Getting the Best for 
30 years. The Bright Futures Champion – Councillor Dick Madden – 
provided a summary of the background behind the document. Members 
were reminded of their contribution to the first version and were pleased to 
hear it continues to feed back to senior ministers, including the Children’s 
Minister, and other Parliamentarians. 

 
Members suggested that young people could be invited to speak to the 
Board now and again. 

 
Decision – Agreed to invite the Children’s Minister to attend a future 
meeting. 
 

 

6   LGA Business Plan for 2019-22 
  

 

 Members noted the report.  
 

It was felt that Climate Change should be pushed more to the front and 
that the business plan of the whole organisation needs to be more 
proactive in working with the Board. 
 

 

7   Note of the Previous Meeting 
  

 

 The note of the previous meeting was agreed. 
 

Next meeting: 19 March 2020, Local Government Association. 
 

 

 

Page 40

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 
 

 

Appendix A -Attendance  
 

Position/Role Councillor Authority 
   
Chair Cllr Judith Blake CBE Leeds City Council 
Deputy-chair Cllr Julie Fallon Conwy County Borough Council 

 
Members Cllr James Beckles Newham London Borough Council 
 Cllr Susie Charles Lancashire County Council 
 Cllr Nick Cott Newcastle upon Tyne City Council 
 Cllr Rachel Eden Reading Borough Council 
 Cllr Alisa Flemming London Borough of Croydon 
 Cllr Matthew Golby Northamptonshire County Council 
 Cllr Roger Gough Kent County Council 
 Cllr Judy Jennings Epping Forest District Council 
 Cllr Imran Khan Bradford Metropolitan District Council 
 Cllr Dick Madden Essex County Council 
 Cllr Laura Mayes Wiltshire Council 
 Cllr Sara Rowbotham Rochdale Metropolitan Borough Council 
 Cllr Lesley Williams MBE Gloucestershire County Council 

 
Apologies Cllr Patricia Bradwell OBE Lincolnshire County Council 
 Cllr Mark Cory Colchester Borough Council 
 Cllr Teresa Heritage Hertfordshire County Council 
 Dr Phil Norrey Devon County Council 

 
In Attendance Dr Kirsten Asmussen Early Intervention Foundation (EIF) 

 
   

 

Page 41

Agenda Item 6




	Agenda
	2 Coronavirus response
	2a LGA submission to the Education Committee inquiry into the impact of COVID-19 on education and children's services
	3 Children and Young People Board priorities
	4 Employment and skills recovery
	6 Notes from the Wednesday 22 January 2020 Board Meeting

